#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Mississippi Supreme Court No. 2010-CA-01770-SCT



## Jeffery Keller Davis, Appellant

v.

### State of Mississippi, Appellee

### Certificate of Interest Persons

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have had an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made so that the justices of this Court may evaluate disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Judge Robert B. Krebs.
- 2. Appellant Jeffrey Keller Davis.
- 3. Counsel for appellant: Glenn S. Swartzfager, Louwlynn Vanzetta Williams, and Amy Strickland, Office of Capital Post-Conviction Counsel, Jackson, Mississippi.

### Statement of the Issues

- 1. Mr. Davis' trial counsel was ineffective in communicating the plea offered by the State. He failed to communicate the correct offer and improperly advised Mr. Davis on the law regarding the offer he had communicated.
- 2. Mr. Davis' counsel was woefully inadequate in investigating, developing, and presenting the available mitigation evidence. He inquired about possible mitigation witnesses for the first time less than twenty-four hours before sentencing and did not adequately prepare the available witnesses for their testimony. Because of such glaring shortcomings, Mr. Davis was robbed of effective assistance of counsel, and the circuit court erred in finding otherwise.
- 3. The circuit court erred in refusing to allow Dr. Kramer's testimony because the testimony he would have given would have been relevant, within the scope of the remand, and necessary to dispel false assumptions created by the State's attempted impeachment of witnesses.

### <u>Introduction</u>

On Friday, July 12, 1991, Jeffrey Keller Davis called Greene County Sheriff Tommy Miller to report that he had killed Linda Hillman in her home. Since that time, Jeffrey has been completely truthful regarding the crime for which he was convicted no matter if that truth benefited or harmed him. He cooperated with law enforcement during the investigation. He turned over a knife used in the crime and consented to a search of his residence. He accompanied Sheriff Miller to the search of his residence, as well as to show Sheriff Miller the location of the clothing and shoes he had worn the morning of the crime. He told Sheriff Miller his story twice after voluntarily waiving his *Miranda* rights each time. <sup>1</sup>

Throughout these proceedings, many witnesses' accounts of what happened have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The question of guilt or innocence is not an issue before this Court. Rather, the issue is whether Jeffrey Davis was denied rights to him assured by the Constitutions of the United States of America and the State of Mississippi.

waivered—one statement made in an affidavit yet a totally conflicting statement at the evidentiary hearing. Jeffrey's accounts, however, have remained constant. With his life at stake, he has told the truth even when it was not to his benefit. Jeffrey Davis has consistently testified that his trial counsel George S. Shaddock told him the morning of trial that the State made an offer of two consecutive twenty-year terms without the possibility of parole. No one has offered direct testimony to the contrary.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing during his direct examination, Jeffrey specifically brought out the fact that he had been previously mistaken about the number of times his trial attorney George S. Shaddock visited him before trial. He readily corrected his mistake and conceded that Mr. Shaddock visited him *more* times than he had previously thought.<sup>2</sup> Even so, the fact that there were more visits than Jeffrey initially recalled makes no substantive difference to his claims because no trial preparation was done, and the end result was the same as if no visits had taken place.

Unfortunately, the same cannot be said for all of the witnesses in Mr. Davis' case. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Shaddock changed his testimony after having met with the State. Specifically, Mr. Shaddock—who had given an affidavit prior to the hearing stating that the prosecution had *never* made any plea offers prior to trial—testified that the morning of trial the State made a plea offer of life plus twenty years. When questioned regarding his sudden change of testimony, Mr. Shaddock admitted that his recollection had been refreshed by "Mr. White." When questioned further, he recanted that he could not remember the specific terms of the offer

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These visits were insignificant, at best, consisting mostly of Mr. Shaddock stopping by to say hello while he was at the jail working on other cases. No wonder Jeffrey forgot about them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> H. Tr. 131-132. To avoid confusion, cites to the transcript to Appellant's trial are cited as "T. Tr." while cites to the transcript of the post-conviction evidentiary hearing are cited as "H. Tr."

made the morning of trial.4

Circuit Judge Dale Harkey, the prosecuting District Attorney at Mr. Davis' trial, signed an affidavit prior to the evidentiary hearing stating that before trial he conveyed a plea offer of life plus ten or twenty years to George Shaddock. Consequently, after having "read the Supreme Court opinions in the case," Judge Harkey testified that he "kind of regretted the imprecision of the language when it indicates that [he] tendered a plea offer." He gave this testimony in spite of the fact that he admittedly had the opportunity to review and make changes to his affidavit before signing it.

The District Attorney, not Jeffrey Davis, made the plea offer—an offer the District Attorney was not required to make. Once the offer was made, Mr. Davis had a constitutional right to hear the correct terms of that offer and to have it properly explained to him. Had Mr. Davis' attorney conveyed and explained the correct terms of the offer, Mr. Davis would have taken the offer, as evidenced by the fact he had instructed his attorney to pursue a plea deal for a life sentence, and never would have never been sentenced to death. Once the case was forced to trial by Mr. Shaddock's ineffectiveness, a death sentence would have been highly unlikely if the jury had heard the compelling mitigating evidence Mr. Shaddock failed to investigate, develop, or present.

The witnesses who testified on Jeffrey Davis' behalf at the evidentiary gave compelling testimony regarding Jeffrey's character as a hard-working, non-violent, and trustworthy individual who volunteered to help others without asking for anything in return. Witnesses also testified that the crime was completely out of character for Jeffrey. In fact, while housed in the George County Jail awaiting trial, Jeffrey was made a trustee by the Sheriff and was allowed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> H. Tr. 132-133.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> H. Tr. 159.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> H Tr 176-177

drive patrol cars around the corner, unescorted in civilian clothes,<sup>7</sup> to change the oil. These witnesses' testimonies attest to Jeffrey's staunch character.

In contrast, even though the State put on no additional evidence at sentencing, in his closing argument the District Attorney portrayed Jeffrey as a law-breaking, "drug-crazed" "animal" who had betrayed the friendship, trust, and loyalty of his friend and victim, Linda Hillman.<sup>8</sup> Thus, it was critical for the jury to hear the testimony of these witnesses which would have been even more compelling juxtaposed against the District Attorney's portrayal of Jeffrey. But because of Mr. Shaddock's ineffectiveness, the jury never heard any of this evidence at trial.

Jeffrey Davis does not believe, and is not arguing, that a death sentence is necessarily inappropriate in his case. Rather, Mr. Davis is arguing that his sentence of death is inappropriate until he has received due process and all constitutional protections guaranteed by the federal and state constitutions—protections he has not yet received. Mr. Davis recognizes that victims in this case are entitled to have justice served, and he is not trying to rob them of that justice.

Nonetheless, justice also dictates that Mr. Davis should not be forced to give away his constitutional rights.

Because of the blatant ineffectiveness of trial counsel, Mr. Davis has not received the rights guaranteed to him by the United States and Mississippi Constitutions. Therefore, his sentence of death, *in these circumstances*, is inappropriate, and the Court should grant the relief that Mr. Davis is requesting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The George County Jail did not have regular uniforms at the time that Jeffrey was housed there. H. Tr. 9-10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> T. Tr. 610-612; 612.

### Statement of the Case

#### A. Statement of the Proceedings

On July 1, 1999, the Mississippi Supreme Court remanded, Mr. Davis' case to the Greene County Circuit Court for an evidentiary hearing to determine if his trial attorney was ineffective for: 1) failing to properly convey and explain a plea offer; 2) failing to properly investigate, prepare, and call character witnesses on Mr. Davis' behalf at sentencing; 3) failing to request a special jury venire; and 4) failing to move to quash the jury venire as a result of improper contact. Through no fault of Mr. Davis, the evidentiary hearing did not take place until February 24 and 25, 2010.

Jeffrey Davis was appointed counsel for purposes of the remand by the Greene County

Circuit Court on January 7, 2000. During the course of his representation of Mr. Davis, Ross

Parker Simons, Mr. Davis' counsel, filed various motions seeking funds for the assistance of an expert toxicologist. Mr. Simons also filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal on March 11, 2003, seeking to have the scope of the remand expanded. By an order dated July 27, 2004, the Mississippi Supreme Court denied Mr. Davis' Petition for Interlocutory Appeal. On December 28, 2004, Mr. Simons filed a Motion to Expand Record in a Manner that will Provide for Meaningful Review of the Consequences of Trial Counsel's Failure to Investigate Mitigation Witnesses, which is the subject of this Court's ineffective-assistance-of-counsel remand. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> C.P. 58-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> C.P. 61-110; 121-122; 130-131; 138-139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> C.P. 113; See also Mississippi Supreme Court Case No. 2003-M-00472.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> C P 137

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Mississippi Supreme Court Case No. 2003-M-00472-SCT.

Mississippi Supreme Court denied Mr. Davis' motion in an order dated January 14, 2005. 14

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina slammed the Mississippi Gulf Coast causing massive destruction. As a result of the disarray, the evidentiary hearing in Mr. Davis' case was unable to take place for a period of time.

The Appellate Defender's Office for the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit Court Judicial District was defunded and ceased to exist as of September 29, 2006. As a result, Mr. Simons filed a motion to withdraw as counsel of record on October 4, 2006. On January 10, 2007, the Greene County Circuit Court appointed Robert M. Ryan, the Director of the Mississippi Office of Capital Post-Conviction Counsel, to represent Mr. Davis in his post-conviction proceedings.<sup>15</sup>

Mr. Ryan resigned as the Director of the Mississippi Office of Capital Post-Conviction Counsel effective December 31, 2007, and Glenn S. Swartzfager was appointed as Director effective January 1, 2008. A status conference was held on August 17, 2009. As a result, ten days later the Greene County Circuit Court set the evidentiary hearing for February 24 and 25, 2010. The parties were ordered to file post-hearing briefs at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing. In his post-hearing brief, Mr. Davis conceded that he was unable to meet his burden of proof on the claim of inappropriate juror contact and ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request a special venire.

The circuit court denied Mr. Davis relief on his remaining claims, and Mr. Davis filed a Motion to Amend or Alter Judgment. The circuit court denied the motion, and this appeal followed.

#### **B.** Statement of Facts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Mississippi Supreme Court Case No. 2003-M-00472-SCT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> C.P. 148-150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> H. Tr. 222.

Jeffrey Keller Davis was arrested on July 12, 1991, after he telephoned the Greene County Sheriff to report that he had killed Linda Hillman. After his arrest, Jeffrey told his story two more times after waiving his *Miranda* rights and otherwise cooperated with law enforcement throughout the investigation. He was subsequently indicted for capital murder by a Greene County Grand Jury on September 20, 1991.

George S. Shaddock was appointed to represent Jeffrey on his capital murder charge by the Greene County Circuit Court on August 21, 1991. From the start, Mr. Shaddock's pre-trial preparation was almost non-existent. From his appointment in August of 1991 until February 5, 1992, Mr. Shaddock only met with Jeffrey three times. These visits were superficial at best. Mr. Shaddock failed to discuss details of the case or elicit information about Jeffrey's life. On February 5, 1992, unsure of whether the State would seek the death penalty and with a February 25, 1992 trial date—less than twenty days away—fast approaching, Mr. Shaddock finally wrote the District Attorney's Office. In this letter, Mr. Shaddock wrote that he "would like to dispose of [Mr. Davis'] case at the February term" and if he was not informed immediately whether the State would seek the death penalty, he would be forced to ask for a continuance. The Even had Mr. Shaddock been notified instantaneously that the State was seeking death, twenty days of preparation for a capital trial is inadequate on its face. The State sought a continuance seven days prior to trial because the Mississippi Crime Lab had not completed testing of the evidence. The case was continued to May 19, 1992.

Even after Mr. Shaddock eventually learned that the State would be seeking the death penalty, his trial-preparation efforts did not increase. In fact, he only visited with Jeffrey two more times between February 5, 1992 and May 19, 1992—one of those times being the day

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> H. Tr. 125. Plaintiff's Exhibit 4, February 5, 1992 Letter from George S. Shaddock to Dale Harkey.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> C.P. 13-15.

before the trial began.<sup>20</sup> Mr. Shaddock made no efforts even to obtain Jeffrey's basic records such as his school, military, or medical records. Additionally, Mr. Shaddock failed to otherwise inquire about Jeffrey's life in order to learn of other possibly mitigating information. As a result, Mr. Shaddock was under the false assumption that Jeffrey had no close friends and did not live in the George County/Greene County community even though Mr. Shaddock had ample opportunity to learn that both were not true.

Nor did Mr. Shaddock undertake any independent efforts to find witnesses who could testify on Jeffrey's behalf at trial. The day before the trial began, Mr. Shaddock met with Jeffrey's mother Christine Davis at her house. When Mr. Shaddock arrived Mrs. Davis' home, he was introduced to a long-time family friend Betty Cochran and was told that she had known Jeffrey all of his life. Mr. Shaddock did not interview her and instead met with Mrs. Davis on the porch outside the presence of Mrs. Cochran.

Before the trial began, the State conveyed a plea offer to Mr. Shaddock where, in exchange for a plea of guilty, the State would recommend a sentence of life imprisonment for murder and ten or twenty years for armed robbery with the sentences to run consecutively. However, Mr. Shaddock incorrectly informed Jeffrey Davis that the State's offer was two-consecutive twenty-year sentences. When Mr. Davis asked how much of the forty years he would be required to serve before being eligible for parole, Mr. Shaddock also incorrectly informed him that he would have to serve all forty years without being eligible for parole. Mr. Davis refused the offer because he felt it was tantamount to a death sentence.

Immediately after Jeffrey was convicted of capital murder, Mr. Shaddock met with Jeffrey, his mother, and his sister Cynthia Lambert, who now goes by Cynthia Mizell. For the first time, Mr. Shaddock asked if they knew any witnesses who could testify on Jeffrey's behalf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> H. Tr. 130.

at sentencing, which was set to commence the very next morning. He did not elaborate on what type of information these witnesses could give the jury during sentencing or what type of witnesses would be helpful.

Less than twenty-four hours later on the morning of the sentencing hearing, Mr. Shaddock spent about ten minutes with Jeffrey's sister Cynthia (Lambert) Mizell preparing her to testify. He only asked her if she and Jeffrey had grown up together and what type of person Jeffrey was. For Mrs. Davis' testimony, Mr. Shaddock's only preparation was to tell her to "get up there and beg for her son's life."<sup>21</sup>

A total of four witnesses testified on Jeffrey's behalf at sentencing: Jeffrey's mother, his sister, former landlord Clayton Evans, and current Deputy Sheriff Kevin Fortenberry. Their testimonies were very brief and provided the jury with few details regarding Jeffrey's true nature. The entire sentencing-hearing testimony of the defense witnesses encompasses a total of fifteen pages of transcript. After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the jury sentenced Jeffrey to death.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, eleven mitigation witnesses testified on Jeffrey's behalf. With the exception of Jeffrey's mother and sister who testified at the original sentencing hearing, every witness testified that they had not been contacted by Mr. Shaddock prior to trial and that they would have testified on Jeffrey's behalf at trial had they been asked. Their testimonies painted quite a different picture than the bare-bones depiction the defense case gave to the jury at sentencing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> H. Tr. 44.

### Standard of Review

In an evidentiary hearing of a post-conviction case, the petitioner must show that he is entitled to relief by a preponderance of the evidence.<sup>22</sup>

After an evidentiary hearing in a post-conviction case, the Mississippi Supreme Court "will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous."<sup>23</sup> For this Court to make that determination, it "must examine the entire record and accept 'that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inference which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's finding of fact . . . .' "<sup>24</sup> During that determination, the Court is to give the circuit judge deference as the "sole authority for determining credibility of the witnesses."<sup>25</sup> But if questions of law are raised, the Court must apply a de novo standard of review.<sup>26</sup>

To obtain such relief in an ineffective-assistance-of-counsel claim, using the test set forth by the United State Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, <sup>27</sup> adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Stringer v. State*, <sup>28</sup> and reiterated in *Ross v. State*, <sup>29</sup> the Court must examine if trial counsel's conduct "so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-23(1); See also *Doss v. State*, 19 So. 3d 690, 694 (Miss. 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Brown v. State, 731 So. 2d 595, 598 (Miss. 1999) (citing Bank of Mississippi v. Southern Mem'l Park, Inc., 677 So. 2d 186, 191 (Miss. 1996); See also Doss v. State, 19 So. 3d at 694; Loden v. State, 971 So. 2d 548, 572-573 (Miss. 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515 So.2d 1183, 1189 (Miss.1987) (quoting Cotton v. McConnell, 435 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss. 1983)); See also Doss v. State, 19 So. 3d at 694; Loden v. State, 971 So. 2d at 572-573.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515 So.2d at 1189 (citing Hall v. State ex rel. Waller, 157 So.2d 781, 784 (Miss. 1963)); See also Doss v. State, 19 So. 3d at 694; Loden v. State, 971 So. 2d at 572-573.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Brown v. State, 731 So.2d at 598 (citing Bank of Mississippi v. Southern Mem'l Park, Inc., 677 So.2d at 191).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> 466 U.S. 668 (1984); See also *Doss v. State*, 19 So. 3d at 694.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> 454 So. 2d 468 (Miss. 1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> 954 So. 2d 968 (Miss. 2007).

trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result."<sup>30</sup> The *Ross* Court went on to state that to meet the first prong of the test "defendant must demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient . . ."<sup>31</sup> For the defendant to meet the second prong, trial counsel's deficient performance must prejudice the defendant.<sup>32</sup> The Court also laid out criteria to establish if these standards have been met:

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