# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## JEFFREY KELLER DAVIS,

Appellant

versus

NO. 2010-CA-01770-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee

### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Greene County, Mississippi No. 2002-12-091(1)

> **JIM HOOD** ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar # Counsel of Record

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 (601) 359-3680

## **COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE**

##

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
V. ARGUMENT
A. STANDARD OF REVIEW
B. PETITIONER'S COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN COMMUNICATING THE PLEA OFFER THAT WAS MADE BY THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY
C. COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE IN THE INVESTIGATION FOR AND PRESENTATION OF MITIGATION EVIDENCE IN THE SENTENCE PHASE OF PETITIONER'S TRIAL
D. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DR. KRAMER'S IRRELEVANT TESTIMONY DURING THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING IN THIS CASE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE

.

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases page
Alexander v. McCotter, 775 F.2d 595 (5th Cir.1985) 12
Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002) 12, 13
Brown v. State, 731 So.2d 595 (Miss.1999) 13, 15
Cullin v. Pinholster, U.S, 131 S.Ct. 1388 (2011)
Davis v. Mississippi, 520 U.S. 1170 (1997) 4
Davis v. State, 684 So.2d 643 (Miss. 1996)
Day v. Quarterman, 566 F.3d 527 (5th Cir. 2009)
Doss v. State, 19 So.3d 690 (Miss., 2009
Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107, 102 S.Ct. 1558, 71 L.Ed.2d 783 (1982) 10
<i>Evans v. Cockrell</i> , 285 F.3d 370 (5th Cir.2002) 33
<i>Gray v. Epps</i> , 616 F.3d 436 (5th Cir. 2010)
Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011) 15
Loden v. State, 971 So.2d 548 (Miss.2007)
McFarland v. Scott, 512 U.S. 849 (1994)
Mohr v. State, 584 So.2d 426 (Miss. 1991) 20
Mullins v. Ratcliff, 515 So.2d 1183 (Miss.1987)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) 9-14, 18, 20, 24
Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468 (Miss. 1984) 10

÷

,

ŝ,

<i>Turner v. Epps</i> , 412 Fed.Appx. 696, 2011 WL 567452, 8 (5th Cir. 2011)
United States v. Doublin, 54 Fed.Appx. 410 (5th Cir.2002)
Wong v. Belmontes, 558 U.S. —, —, 130 S.Ct. 383, 175 L.Ed.2d 328 (2009) (per curiam)
Woodfox v. Cain, 609 F.3d 774 (5th Cir. 2010) 33, 34, 36
Statutes page
MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972, as amended) 1
MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-23(7) (Rev.2007)
Other Authorities page
Death Penalty Cases, 58 N.Y.U.L.Rev. 299, 343 (1983)

.

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### JEFFREY KELLER DAVIS,

Appellant

versus

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

NO. 2010-CA-01770-SCT

Appellee

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

**COMES NOW** the Appellee, State of Mississippi, by and through counsel and files this Brief for Appellee with this Court in the above styled and numbered cause. This case is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief by the circuit court after remand for an evidentiary hearing by this Court.

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant Jeffrey K. Davis was indicted by the Grand Jury of Greene County, Mississippi, during the September 1991 term of said court for the crime of capital murder of Linda Hillman while engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery. The indictment was returned pursuant to MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-19(2)(e) (1972, as amended). CP 6.<sup>1</sup> The Defendant entered a plea of not guilty and was tried by a jury of his peers. CP 34. Davis was found guilty of capital murder on May 22, 1992, in the Circuit Court of Greene County. The jury then entered the sentencing phase of the trial and heard evidence in aggravation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>References to the record are designated as follows: "CP" - court papers, Volume 1; "Tr."- trial transcript, Volumes 2 through 5; and "Supp." - supplemental volume of instructions submitted after this Court granted Davis' Motion to Supplement the Record.

mitigation of sentence. After due deliberations the jury returned a sentence of death in the

proper form. The jury's specific findings of capital murder are as follows:

We, the jury, unanimously find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the following facts existed at the time of the commission of the capital murder:

- 1. That the Defendant actually killed Linda Hillman;
- 2. That the Defendant attempted to kill Linda Hillman;
- 3. That the Defendant intended the killing of Linda Hillman to take place; or
- 4. That the Defendant contemplated that lethal force would be employed.

Next, we, the jury, unanimously find that the aggravating circumstances of:

- 1. Whether the capital offense was committed for pecuniary gain.
- 2. Whether the capital offense was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

is/are sufficient to impose the death penalty and that there are sufficient mitigating circumstance to outweigh the aggravating circumstances, and we further find that the defendant should suffer death.

CP 40.

Based on the facts of the case and the aggravating circumstances, Davis was sentenced

to death. Davis' Motion for a New Trial was overruled by the trial court on July 28, 1992.

CP 53. Davis pursued his automatic direct appeal to this Court. He raised the following

claims:

- I. The State's Voluntary Intoxication Instruction Improperly Shifted the Burden of Proof on the Issue of Intent.
- II. The Prosecutor Committed Reversible Error in Repeatedly Eliciting

Evidence Concerning Davis' Lack of Remorse as Well as in Using this So-called Lack of Remorse to Comment on Davis' Failure to Testify.

- III. The Many Instances of Prosecutorial Misconduct Violated Jeffrey Davis' Right to a Fair Trial.
- IV. The Nonconformity Between the Capital Murder Instruction and That Defining Armed Robbery Was Error.
- V. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Defendant's Instruction on the Lesser Included Offense of Murder.
- VI. The Use of Davis' Statements Was Error in That the State Failed to Prove They Were Voluntary.
- VII. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Sustain Davis' Motion to Quash the Jury Venire.
- VIII. The Trial Court Erred in Limiting Examination of Witness Clayton Evans with Regard to His Knowledge of the Victim.
- IX. The Trial Court Erred in Prohibiting Evidence Concerning the Victim's Prior Conviction for Marijuana.
- X. The Jury Was Given an Unconstitutional Definition of Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel, an Aggravating Circumstance That Was Unsupported by the Evidence in this Case.
- XI. The Aggravating Circumstance of Murder Committed for Pecuniary Gain Is Invalid in That it Fails to Narrow the Class of Persons Eligible for the Death Penalty.
- XII. Sentencing Instruction S-3 Was Erroneous in That it Contained a Signature Line Only under the Option of Death.
- XIII. The Sentencing Instructions Were Erroneous in That They Failed to Inform the Jury That They Need Not Be Unanimous in Finding Mitigating Circumstances.
- XIV. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Have the Court Reporter Take down the Actual Jury Selection Process.
- XV. The Trial Court Erred in Allowing the District Attorney to Ask Prospective Jurors about Their Ability to Return a Death Sentence Given Specific Facts.
- XVI. The Trial Court Erred in Admitting a Photograph of Davis' Right Arm.
- XVII. The Death Sentence Should Be Vacated as it Is Disproportionate Given the Circumstances of the Crime and the Background of the Defendant.
- XVIII. The Cumulation of Error in this Case Demands Reversal.

Davis v. State, 684 So.2d 643 (Miss. 1996).

On June 27, 1996, this Court affirmed the conviction of capital murder and sentence of death

in a written opinion. *Davis v. State*, 684 So.2d 643 (Miss. 1996). A petition for rehearing was filed and later denied on September 9, 1996.

From this affirmance Davis sought relief by filing a petition for writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme Court. In this petition Davis raised the following questions:

1. Whether it is time for this Court to resolve, once and for all, the disagreements across the board as to the constitutional limits of the "heinous, atrocious or cruel" aggravating circumstance?"

2. Whether this Court should resolve the confusion in the lower courts as to whether this Court's decisions in *Mills v. Maryland* and *McKoy v. North Carolina* apply to cases where the instructions imply that mitigation must be found unanimously but do not say so explicitly?

Petition for Writ of Certiorari at I.

On April 14, 1997, the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Davis v. Mississippi, 520 U.S. 1170 (1997). No petition for rehearing was filed.

After denial of certiorari, the State moved the Court to reset a date for the execution of sentence in this case. On June 19, 1997, the Court set July 23, 1997, as the date for the execution of the sentence of death.

Davis then filed a motion for appointment of counsel and stay of execution in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi on June 27, 1997. This district court granted a stay of execution of the state court judgment on July 9, 1997, under the authority of *McFarland v. Scott*, 512 U.S. 849 (1994). On August 21, 1997, the Court appointed counsel for petitioner and appointed additional counsel on October 1, 1997, in order to prepare petitioner's petition for writ of habeas corpus. On March 17, 1998, the

Court denied petitioner's Motion to Toll the Running of the Statute of Limitations Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d) and ordered that the habeas petition be filed on or before April 14, 1998. On April 1, 1998, petitioner filed an Application for Leave to File Motion to Vacate Judgment and/or Sentence of Death with the Mississippi Supreme Court. Thereafter, Davis filed a motion to hold the habeas action in abeyance and maintain the stay of execution until such time as this Court ruled on the application for post-conviction relief. The district court denied the motion to hold in abeyance, vacated the stay of execution and vacated the appointment of counsel on April 30, 1998.

On April 1, 1998, Davis filed his Application for Leave to File Motion to Vacate Judgment and/or Sentence of Death with this Court. On July 10, 1999, this Court granted in part and denied in part petitioner's motion for leave to file a motion to vacate the judgment in the trial court. The Court granted Davis an evidentiary hearing on the following claims of ineffective assistance of counsel: 1) the failure to investigate for and prepare character witnesses to testify in the sentence phase of the trial; 2) whether there was improper contact between the State and prospective jurors; 3) whether trial counsel failed to convey or explain a plea agreement; and 4) whether trial counsel failed to request a special jury venire.

Pursuant to the mandate of this Court the Circuit Court of Greene County held an evidentiary hearing in this case of February 25 and 26, 2010. On July 2, 2010, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying post-conviction relief. CP. 224-28. The Circuit Court found that neither of the ineffective assistance of counsel claims had been sustained and noted that petitioner had conceded that the proof adduced at the hearing would not sustain the improper

contact claim or the special venire claim. CP. 225. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment on July 9, 2010. On October 14, 2010, the Circuit Court denied the motion to alter or amend judgment. CP. 241. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal on October 25, 2010. CP. 242.

Davis has now filed his brief for appellant and the following is the response of the State of Mississippi.

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

The facts of this case leading to Davis' conviction and sentence of death are outlined by this Court in *Davis v. State*, 684 So.2d at 648-49. However, due to the serious nature of the issues addressed in Davis' Motion, Appellee will restate the salient facts for the Court.

This story of greed and murder is one not unfamiliar to the Court – a man robs and murders a friend to get money to buy drugs. This story is told by the man himself, Jeffrey K. Davis.

Davis borrowed money from Linda Hillman, a friend, on Monday to buy drugs. When she made the loan, Davis saw that she had more money in her purse. Early on Thursday morning, July 11, 1991, Davis decided he had to have more drugs and returned to Linda Hillman's trailer. He drove past the trailer and an adjacent corn field and parked his truck. He walked back through the corn field to the trailer and knocked on the door.

Hillman let Davis in, but refused to give him any more money. Davis shot Hillman twice. Hillman began screaming and Davis got scared so he took his knife and stabbed her three times. Taking her money, he left the trailer and walked back through the corn field. Davis returned home briefly and then left for Jackson County where he bought more drugs.

That Friday Davis "came to his senses" and called the sheriff to report the robbery/murder. At Davis' home, the sheriff met Davis where he was waiting with two bags of clothes. Davis started to tell his story when the sheriff interrupted to advise him of his *Miranda* rights. Davis said he understood these rights and began telling his story. When Davis was taken to the courthouse, he was again advised of his rights. He signed a waiver of rights form and then repeated the same story.

The sheriff subsequently recovered, at Davis' direction, the overalls and shoes worn the morning of the murder. One boot was found in one creek, the second in another creek, and the overalls in yet a third. Receiving Davis' consent to search, a rifle was also recovered from Davis' home.<sup>2</sup>

#### **III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Petitioner has failed to demonstrate deficient performance and actual prejudice to support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel related to the failure to relate a plea offer to petitioner. The trial court found that no valid plea was offered and therefore counsel did not perform deficiently in relating it to petitioner. Further, petitioner clearly stated that the plea offer that was conveyed to him was rejected by him based on information that he obtained after his trial was over and only on post-conviction review.

Petitioner's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel related to the failure to call

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The part of the Statement of Facts is taken from the testimony of Tommy Miller, former Green County Sheriff. Tr. 146-147.

additional character witnesses at trial similarly was not shown. The witnesses called all testified that he was a nice, non-violent person who they did not know used drugs. This testimony was basically the same that was presented at trial. The trial court held that the repetitive testimony of these witnesses did not show deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Further, the trial court held that even if trial coursel's performance was deficient that petitioner failed to demonstrate prejudice as there was no reasonable probability that the result of the sentence phase would have been different.

Finally, the trial court did not err in disallowing the testimony of Dr. James Kramer, M.D., an addictionologist at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing. The trial court ruled that no witness had testified that Davis was addicted to drugs and therefore the testimony that petitioner sought to present was irrelevant to the issues before the court. In addition, Dr. Kramer could not have been available to testify at the sentencing phase of this case as he was in private practice in Pacific Beach, California, at the time of the trial of this case. He did not move to Mississippi until after the case was over. Thus, petitioner's attempt to show that an expert could have been called to testify to support a claim of ineffective assistance would not have been supported by Dr. Kramer's testimony. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding that Dr. Kramer could not testify.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In *Doss v. State*, 19 So.3d 690 (Miss. 2009), this Court reiterated the standard of review to be used in assessing an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction relief petition.

The Court held:

¶ 5. The standard of review after an evidentiary hearing in post-conviction-relief (PCR) cases is well settled. This Court has said:

"When reviewing a lower court's decision to deny a petition for post conviction relief this Court will not disturb the trial court's factual findings unless they are found to be clearly erroneous." *Brown v. State*, 731 So.2d 595, 598 (Miss.1999) (citing *Bank of Mississippi v. Southern Mem'l Park, Inc.*, 677 So.2d 186, 191 (Miss.1996)) (emphasis added). In making that determination, "[t]his Court must examine the entire record and accept 'that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower court's findings of fact...." *Mullins v. Ratcliff*, 515 So.2d 1183, 1189 (Miss.1987) (quoting *Cotton v. McConnell*, 435 So.2d 683, 685 (Miss.1983)). That includes deference to the circuit judge as the "sole authority for determining credibility of the witnesses." *Mullins*, 515 So.2d at 1189 (citing *Hall v. State ex rel. Waller*, 247 Miss. 896, 903, 157 So.2d 781, 784 (1963)).

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